# **RECEIVED**

08-17-2017

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP002196-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

V.

STEVEN T. DELAP,
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

On review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals,
District IV, affirming the Order of the Circuit Court
Denying a Motion to Suppress the Evidence,
entered in Dodge County Circuit Court, the
Honorable Steven G. Bauer, Presiding.

\_\_\_\_\_

# BRIEF AND ARGUMENT OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Michael J. Herbert
Wisconsin State Bar No. 1059100
10 Daystar Ct., Ste. C
Madison, Wisconsin 53704
(608) 249-1211
Attorney for Steven T. Delap,

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the doctrine of hot pursuit always justifies a forcible warrantless entry into the residence of one suspected of minor criminal activity.

As it applies to the present facts, this case presents the question of whether the arrest and subsequent search of Mr. Delap, effectuated by a forcible warrantless residential entry by police officers in hot pursuit, violates the Fourth Amendment requirement of reasonableness.

Mr. Delap raised this issue in a *pro se* pretrial motion to suppress. The court issued a written decision denying Mr. Delap's motion, finding that the officers were faced with exigent circumstances and acted in hot pursuit.

In a one-judge decision affirming the decision of the circuit court, the court of appeals declined to consider Mr. Delap's argument that the officers acted unreasonably, finding the argument undeveloped.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for cases decided by this court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 15, 2015, a criminal complaint was filed in Dodge County Circuit Court, charging Steven T, Delap with one count of Obstructing an Officer (Repeater), contrary to Wis. Stats. § 946.41(1), a class A misdemeanor, and one count of Possession of Drug Paraphernalia (Repeater), in violation of Wis. Stats. § 961.573(1), an unclassified misdemeanor. <sup>1</sup>

Mr. Delap represented himself in this case, and filed a *pro se* motion to suppress. The motion argued that the arrest and subsequent search of Mr. Delap violated his right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures.

The court held an evidentiary hearing on the motion. The law enforcement officers involved in the arrest and search of Mr. Delap testified. Mr. Delap testified as well. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court indicated that it was not prepared to make a ruling. The state submitted a written memorandum in opposition to Mr. Delap's motion.

The court subsequently issued a written decision denying Mr. Delap's motion to suppress. The written decision concluded that the conduct of the officers was

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All references to Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2013-2014 Edition.

reasonable due to exigent circumstances. (DOC 21:1-2; Appendix F:1-2).

Mr. Delap subsequently entered pleas of no contest to both offenses charged in the criminal complaint. The court imposed a straight jail sentence. Taking into account the amount of good time and presentence jail credit, the court deemed the sentence served.

Mr. Delap filed a timely Notice of Intent to Seek Postconviction Relief. Pursuant to appellate counsel's motion, the court of appeals issued an order extending the time in which to file a notice of appeal or motion for postconviction relief. Mr. Delap ultimately filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

In a one judge decision, the court of appeals denied Mr. Delap's appeal. Mr. Delap raised two issues in his appeal – that police officers did not have probable cause that he had resisted or obstructed in officer in violation of Wis. Stats. § 946.41 and that as a consequence the officers were not in hot pursuit; and that even if the officers were in hot pursuit their conduct in entering the residence without a warrant in pursuit of Mr. Delap violated the Fourth Amendment's guarantee against unreasonable searches and seizures.

In its decision, the court of appeals declined to consider Mr. Delap's argument that the officers acted

unreasonably, finding the argument to have been undeveloped. (Decision of Court of Appeals; Appendix G:¶21).

Mr. Delap has twice raised the argument that the officers in this case acted unreasonably. Neither the circuit court nor the court of appeals substantively or directly addressed the argument.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the criminal complaint, on September 8, 2015, at approximately 9:53pm, Sgt. Michael Willmann and Deputy Dustin Waas of the Dodge County Sheriff's Department went to a location on Milwaukee St. in Neosho, Wisconsin. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). Sgt. Willmann was aware that Steven T. Delap was the subject of arrest warrants. (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2). According to the complaint, Deputy Gallenbeck "was able to get information that Steven was living at 110 Milwaukee Street in the village of Neosho." (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At the motion hearing, Mr. Delap testified that 110 Milwaukee St. was not his permanent address, but that he had been living there temporarily. (DOC 41:5-6; Appendix D:5-6). Accordingly, the circuit court found that Mr. Delap had standing to raise the Fourth Amendment issue. (DOC 41:6; Appendix D:6).

At the motion hearing, Sgt. Willmann stated that he "believed" that Deputy Gallenbeck had learned that Mr. Delap was living at 110 Milwaukee St. from an individual who was a passenger in a vehicle that was involved in a traffic stop the month prior. (DOC 41:13; Appendix D:13). Sgt. Willmann was aware that Mr. Delap had been the driver of the vehicle involved in the traffic stop and had fled on foot. (DOC 41:8; Appendix D:8). Sgt. Willmann further testified that he "believed" that a teletype from Walworth County "had also indicated he was living at that residence." (DOC 41:13; Appendix D:13).

Sgt. Willmann had confirmed that the one of the warrants was a probation and parole warrant. (DOC 41:9,13; Appendix D:9,13). According to the criminal complaint, the second warrant was a felony arrest warrant "through Jefferson County." (DOC 1:2; Appendix B:2).

Sgt. Willmann and Deputy Waas parked their vehicle about a block away, based on prior information that Mr. Delap had fled from police on previous occasions. (DOC 1:2-3; Appendix B:2-3).

According to the criminal complaint, Sgt.

Willmann and Deputy Waas were walking toward the residence on Milwaukee St., trying to figure out exactly

which residence was the one they were looking for. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). According to Sgt. Willmann, they were attempting to determine which duplex was the one they were looking for. (DOC 41:14; Appendix D:14). As they approached, they did not know the exact location. (DOC 41:14; Appendix D:14).

Deputy Waas noticed a male individual standing next to a vehicle, and discussed with Sgt. Willmann whether that individual could be Mr. Delap. (DOC 41:52; Appendix D:52). Shortly afterward both officers noticed another male individual near a residence, walking toward the vehicle. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). As the officers got closer, "that individual who was walking near the residence turned and looked at us and subsequently came to a slow stop and turned around and began running back towards the rear of the residence." (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3).

Sgt. Willmann observed that the individual who fled "did appear to be a white male with an approximate age of 25-30 years old." (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). Sgt. Willmann believed that the individual was Steven Delap. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3).<sup>3</sup> At the motion hearing, Sgt. Willmann testified that he "didn't know

anuty Wass tastified at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Deputy Waas testified at the motion hearing that the reason the officers concluded that the first individual they observed was not Mr. Delap was because "he didn't take off running." (DOC 41:56; Appendix D:56).

100 percent" that the individual who ran was Mr. Delap. (DOC 41:37; Appendix D; 37).

Sgt. Willmann shone his flashlight on the individual "and yelled for him to stop running and shouted that I was the police." (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). Sgt. Willmann began pursuing the individual, and observed the individual slip and fall. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). According to the complaint, Sgt. Willmann stated that he observed the individual enter a rear door at 110 Milwaukee St. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3).

At the motion hearing, Sgt. Willmann testified with respect to the location entered by the fleeing individual - "I couldn't say 100 percent that I knew that was 110." (DOC 41:39; Appendix D:39). Sgt. Willmann testified that the last address they had noticed prior to chasing the individual was 120 Milwaukee St. (DOC 41:38; Appendix D:38).

Sgt. Willmann reached the door before the individual was able to close it. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). Deputy Waas arrived at the scene, and together the officers attempted to push the door open. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). The door opened wide enough to allow Sgt. Willmann, using his taser, to order the individual away from the door. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3). The individual complied and lay prone on the ground. (DOC

1:3; Appendix B:3). A struggle ensued as the officers attempted to place the individual in handcuffs. (DOC 1:3; Appendix B:3).

At some point, the officers did confirm that the individual was Steven Delap. He was placed under arrest. (DOC 1:4; Appendix B:4). A search incident to arrest revealed that Mr. Delap was in possession of drug paraphernalia. (DOC 1:4; Appendix B:4)

#### APPELLANT'S ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. Whether the doctrine of hot pursuit always justifies a forcible warrantless entry into the residence of one suspected of minor criminal activity.

#### A. Summary of the Argument

The doctrine of hot pursuit does not always justify the forcible warrantless entry into the residence of one suspected of minor criminal activity. There is no per se rule that it is reasonable for police to enter a residence without a warrant when they are engaged in hot pursuit of a fleeing suspect.

In the present case, the forcible warrantless entry into the residence by police officers in hot pursuit of Mr. Delap is contrary to the Fourth Amendment guarantee against unreasonable searches and seizures.

Warrantless residential entries by law enforcement are presumptively unreasonable. In some instances, a warrantless residential entry may be justified by exigent circumstances, such as law enforcement in hot pursuit of a fleeing suspect. However, the presumption of unreasonableness is difficult to overcome when the officers are pursuing an individual suspected of only a minor non-violent criminal offense.

The question of reasonableness is a public policy question, asking whether public policy favors the conduct of law enforcement in a particular case. The question is resolved by considering the totality of the circumstances.

The totality of the circumstances in this case does not support the actions of law enforcement as reasonable. In the present case, law enforcement pursued an individual whom they believed to be Mr. Delap into his residence. The officers used force to gain entry and apprehend Mr. Delap after pursuing him for running away when they told him to stop. The pursuing officers faced no underlying urgency or danger to the public that precluded them from seeking the consent of an impartial magistrate prior to forcibly entering a residence. Obtaining that consent (in the form of a

warrant) would not have defeated the apprehension and/or conviction of Mr. Delap.

The policy argument that supports hot pursuit as an exception to the warrant requirement arises from a principle that suspects should not be encouraged to flee from law enforcement in hopes that they will safely reach 'home base'. However, the public policy that respects the home and protects it from warrantless governmental intrusions is constitutional and foundational, and should not yield to law enforcement conduct that is unnecessary to protect the public, prevent the destruction of evidence, or keep the suspect from escaping. Law enforcement should not be encouraged to pursue suspects into their abodes to arrest them for minor non-violent crimes when there is no urgent need to do so without first obtaining a warrant

Mr. Delap would respectfully submit that under the totality of circumstances, the seizure, arrest, and subsequent search by law enforcement in this case were unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment.

#### B. Standard of Review

Whether the conduct of police in entering Mr. Delap's residence without a warrant is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution is a question of constitutional fact. State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶26, 235 Wis. 2d

524, 612 N.W.2d 29 (2000). The reviewing court reviews the circuit court's findings of historical fact under a deferential standard, upholding them unless they are clearly erroneous, then independently applies constitutional principles to those facts. State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶18, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016).

#### C. Relevant Law

It is a basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable. State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶18, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016). Nevertheless, because the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is `reasonableness,' the warrant requirement is subject to certain exceptions. State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶18, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016).

A warrantless home entry is lawful if `exigent circumstances' are present. State v. Ferguson, 2009 WI 50, ¶19, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187 (2009). Exigent circumstances exist when it would be unreasonable and contrary to public policy to bar law enforcement officers at the door. State v. Ferguson, 2009 WI 50, ¶19, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187 (2009).

One of the recognized exigent circumstances is 'hot pursuit' of a fleeing suspect. State v. Ferguson, 2009 WI 50, ¶20, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187 (2009). In addition to exigent circumstances, probable cause must also be present. State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶19, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016).

However, the confluence of probable cause and exigent circumstances does not always justify a warrantless entry. State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶34, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016). The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness, and reasonableness is measured in terms of the totality of the circumstances. State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶34, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016).

#### D. Argument

This case presents an opportunity for this court to reaffirm the principle that there is no per se rule that warrantless home entries by law enforcement engaged in hot pursuit of a fleeing suspect are always reasonable under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

Mr. Delap would further submit that the principle needs reaffirmation in light of the fact that both the circuit court and court of appeals declined to address the reasonableness issue. Although hot pursuit falls under one of the categories of exigent circumstances that may justify a warrantless home entry as reasonable, standing alone it provides a non-compelling argument in favor of reasonableness.

As this court observed in Weber, it is a basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable. State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶18, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016). The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness, and reasonableness is measured in terms of the totality of the circumstances. State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶34, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016).

In some instances, a warrantless search/seizure within the home may be justified (and considered reasonable) due to the existence of exigent circumstances. <u>State v. Ferguson</u>, 2009 WI 50, ¶19, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187 (2009).

In determining whether exigent circumstances are present, the court applies an objective test asking "whether a police officer under the circumstances known to the officer at the time [of entry] reasonably believes that delay in procuring a warrant would gravely endanger life or risk destruction of evidence or greatly

enhance the likelihood of the suspect's escape." State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶30, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29 (2000). Exigent circumstances exist when it would be unreasonable and contrary to public policy to bar law enforcement officers at the door. State v. Ferguson, 2009 WI 50, ¶19, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187 (2009).

1. The Fourth Amendment protects the sanctity of the home by prohibiting unreasonable government intrusions; accordingly, the government is required to show a compelling need to enter a home without first obtaining a warrant that authorizes the entry.

The physical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed. Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 585, 100 S. Ct. 1371, 63 L. Ed. 2d 639 (1980). Accordingly, "the Fourth Amendment draws a firm line at the entrance to the house." Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27, 40, 121 S. Ct. 2038, 150 L. Ed. 2d 94 (2001).

As a consequence, it is a basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable. Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 586, 100 S. Ct. 1371, 63 L. Ed. 2d 639 (1980). The warrant

procedure minimizes the danger of *needless intrusions* of that sort. Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 586, 100 S. Ct. 1371, 63 L. Ed. 2d 639 (1980)(Emphasis added).

The Fourth Amendment protects both invasions of privacy as well as invasions that could be characterized as trespass. See for example, <u>United States v. Jones</u>, 132 S. Ct. 945, 949-50, 565 U.S. 400, 181 L. Ed. 2d 911 (2012)(Fourth Amendment encompasses both common law trespass and individual expectations of privacy); see also <u>State v. Weber</u>, 2016 WI 96, ¶128, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016)("the Katz reasonable-expectation-of-privacy test has been *added to*, not *substituted for*, the common-law trespassory test")(Justice Ann Walsh Bradley dissenting opinion, emphasis in original).

In limited instances, these principles yield to the urgency of exigent circumstances. A warrantless entry by criminal law enforcement officials may be legal when there is compelling need for official action and no time to secure a warrant. Michigan v. Tyler, 436 U.S. 499, 509, 98 S.Ct. 1942, 56 L.Ed.2d 486 (1978). Accordingly, a warrantless entry is permissible only where there is urgent need to do so, coupled with insufficient time to secure a warrant. State v. Smith, 131 Wis.2d 220, 228, 388 N.W.2d 601 (1986). The police

bear a heavy burden in attempting to demonstrate an urgent need that might justify warrantless searches or arrests. Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 749-50, 104 S. Ct. 2091, 80 L. Ed. 2d 732 (1984).

The warrant requirement functions not only to ensure that probable cause exists prior to any intrusion into the home that infringes on either privacy or property interests, but that the determination is ultimately made by a neutral and detached magistrate.

For example, the U.S. Supreme Court observed in Johnson v. United States, 33 U.S. 10, 14 (1948), that "the right of law enforcement officers to thrust themselves into a home is of grave concern," and that when the right of privacy must yield to the right of law enforcement to search "is to be decided by a judicial officer, not by a policeman or government enforcement agent." Johnson v. United States, 33 U.S. 10, 14 (1948); see also Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 751, 104 S. Ct. 2091, 80 L. Ed. 2d 732 (1984); State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶121, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016)(Justice Ann Walsh Bradley dissenting opinion).

From these cases, we can draw some conclusions that apply to the present case. In order to protect privacy and property/trespass interests, the Fourth Amendment draws a line at the entrance to the house. The general rule is that the line can only be crossed by law

enforcement when it is authorized by a neutral and detached magistrate. A presumptively unreasonable warrantless entry may be justified when exigent circumstances exist. In order to justify a warrantless entry as reasonable due to exigent circumstances, there must be some urgency or emergency that makes it necessary for police to bypass the warrant requirement.

2. <u>In limited instances</u>, exigent circumstances justify a warrantless home entry by police officers; however the public policy advanced by permitting warrantless home entries by officers in hot pursuit of a fleeing suspect is not compelling.

In some limited exigent circumstances, it would be contrary to public policy to require law enforcement to obtain a warrant before effectuating entry into a residence.

There are four well-recognized categories of exigent circumstances that have been held to authorize a law enforcement officer's warrantless entry into a home:

1) hot pursuit of a suspect, 2) a threat to the safety of a suspect or others, 3) a risk that evidence will be destroyed, and 4) a likelihood that the suspect will flee.

State v. Weber, 2016 WI 96, ¶18, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (2016).

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