RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-06-2017

IN SUPREME COUR **CLERK OF SUPREME COURT** OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP2196-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN T. DELAP,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, AFFIRMING THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE STEVEN G. BAUER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JENNIFER R. MCNAMEE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1098838

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although the lower courts concluded that the officers' actions in this case were justified under the doctrine of hot pursuit, *Payton*, provides narrower grounds for affirmance. Under *Payton*, a police officer may enter a home to arrest a suspect if he or she has an arrest warrant for the suspect and reason to believe the suspect lives and is present in the home. As explained below, all of those conditions were present here.

Alternatively, this Court may affirm based on hot pursuit. When Delap ignored the officers' lawful command to stop and instead continued running into his residence, the officers had probable cause to arrest Delap for the jailable offense of obstruction. The officers immediately pursued Delap and used reasonable measures to enter the residence and arrest a resisting Delap.

Under either theory, the officers' entry into the residence to arrest Delap was justified. Consequently, this Court should affirm the court of appeals.

ARGUMENT

- I. *Payton* authorized the officers' entry into the residence to arrest Delap on the two outstanding arrest warrants.
 - A. The Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable seizures and (absent consent or exigent circumstances) warrantless entries.

The United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit unreasonable seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. 1, § 11.⁶ "An arrest is a seizure invoking protections afforded under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution." *State v. Ferguson*, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 17, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187.

In general, "if the police have probable cause to make an arrest, they do not need a warrant." *Ferguson*, 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶ 17 (citing *United States v. Watson*, 423 U.S. 411, 417–23 (1976)). "However, when the police must enter a home to arrest, if they have not obtained a warrant in advance, the entry and arrest are presumptively unlawful." *Id.* (citing *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 586). "This presumption is based on 'the overriding respect for the sanctity of the home that has been embedded in our traditions since the origins of the Republic." *Id.* (quoting *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 601).

⁶ Because Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution is "substantively identical," to the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, this Court interprets Article I, Section 11 "consistently with the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Weber*, 2016 WI 96, ¶ 17, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 (quoting *State v. Richter*, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 27, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29).

B. Officers may enter a residence to execute an arrest warrant if they reasonably believe the suspect resides there.

"A police officer with an arrest warrant can enter the suspect's residence to execute the warrant if there is reason to believe he will be found there." United States v. Pallais, 921 F.2d 684, 690 (7th Cir. 1990) (citing Payton, 445 U.S. at 603). In Payton, the Supreme Court reasoned, "If there is sufficient evidence of a citizen's participation in a felony to persuade a judicial officer that his arrest is justified, it is constitutionally reasonable to require him to open his doors to the officers of the law." Payton, 445 U.S. at 602–03.

"Thus, for Fourth Amendment purposes, an arrest warrant founded on probable cause implicitly carries with it the limited authority to enter a dwelling in which the suspect lives when there is reason to believe the suspect is within." *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 602–03. Accordingly, "*Payton* allows the police to enter a residence armed only with an arrest warrant" if "the facts and circumstances present the police with a reasonable belief that" (1) "the subject of the arrest warrant resides in the home," and (2) "the subject of the warrant is present in the home at the time entry is effected." *State v. Blanco*, 2000 WI App 119, ¶ 16, 237 Wis. 2d 395, 614 N.W.2d 512; *see also State v. Kiper*, 193 Wis. 2d 69, 85–86, 532 N.W.2d 698 (1995).

But if the police do not have reason to believe that the person named in the warrant lives at the place where the police are executing the warrant, they may not enter on the arrest warrant alone, based on the Supreme Court's decision in *Steagald v. United States*, 451 U.S. 204 (1981). In *Steagald*, the police received information that a federal fugitive could be found at a certain address "during the next 24 hours." *Id.* at 206. The police went to that address with an arrest warrant and found cocaine, but no fugitive. *Id.*

Steagald, who was not the fugitive but was outside of the home the police searched, was arrested and indicted on federal drug charges. *Id*.

The Supreme Court held that the officer's entry under the circumstances was unreasonable. It recognized that while the arrest "warrant embodied a judicial finding that there was probable cause to believe the [fugitive] had committed a felony" and thus authorized the officer to seize the fugitive, the warrant "did absolutely nothing to protect [Steagald's] privacy interest in being free from an unreasonable invasion and search of his home." Steagald, 451 U.S. at 213. To protect the homeowner, the Court held that absent consent or exigent circumstances, the police must obtain a search warrant to enter the home of a thirdparty to search for the subject of an arrest warrant. Id. at 205–06; see also Blanco, 237 Wis. 2d 395, ¶ 13 (noting that under Steagald, "an arrest warrant is insufficient to enter a third-party's home, even if the police believe that the subject of the arrest warrant is present there").

Payton and Steagald do not "divide the world into residences belonging solely to the suspect on the one hand, and third parties on the other." Blanco, 237 Wis. 2d 395, ¶ 14 (quoting Valdez v. McPheters, 172 F.3d 1220, 1225 (10th Cir. 1999) (reconciling Payton and Steagald)). Instead, "[t]he rule announced in Payton is applicable so long as the suspect 'possesses common authority over, or some other significant relationship to,' the residence entered by police." Id. (quoting Valdez, 172 F.3d at 1225). In short, police "entry into a residence pursuant to an arrest warrant is permitted when 'the facts and circumstances within the knowledge of the law enforcement agents, when viewed in the totality . . . warrant a reasonable belief that the location to be searched is the suspect's dwelling, and that the suspect is within the residence at the time of entry." *Id.* (quoting *Valdez*, 172 F.3d at 1225–26).

For example, in *Blanco*, the court of appeals held that the police had a reasonable belief that Blanco lived at the residence they entered to execute his arrest warrant based on the following facts: (1) "a tip that Blanco was 'staying' at the apartment building"; (2) "confirmation from the building manger that Blanco may be staying in the . . . apartment"; (3) "representation from an occupant of the building that Blanco had just been outside the apartment smoking a cigarette" and that he returned to the apartment "after smoking his cigarette"; and (4) "evidence that Blanco was not at the Wauwatosa address or any other location investigated earlier that day by police." Blanco, 237 Wis. 2d 395, ¶ 17. Those facts, in particular the fact that "the police" officers were informed that Blanco was 'staying' at" the apartment, made it reasonable for the police to believe that Blanco resided at the apartment. Id. ¶ 19. As a result, "the arrest warrant provided the police with lawful authority to enter [the apartment] to search for the subject of the arrest warrant, Blanco." Id. ¶ 20.

By contrast, in *Kiper*, the police did not have a reasonable belief that the subject of the warrant lived at the residence searched. *Kiper*, 193 Wis. 2d at 85. There, the officer executing the warrant knew "only that [the subject of the warrant] had moved from two addresses noted on the face of the arrest warrant, had no known present address, and that [the subject of the warrant] was present at [the third-party's] residence six weeks earlier." *Id.* at 84. This Court said that "without more substantial evidence, any belief held by [the officer] that [the subject of the warrant] may have resided at the apartment constituted no more than mere suspicion." *Id.*

Here, there is no dispute that the officers had two arrest warrants, including a felony arrest warrant, for Delap. (R. 1:2, Pet-App. B:2; 41:9–10, 13, Pet-App. D:9–10, 13.) Moreover, there can be no reasonable dispute that the officers knew Delap was inside, given that they chased him there. Thus, similar to *Blanco* and *Kiper*, the dispositive issue is whether the officers reasonably believed that Delap was residing at 110 Milwaukee Street. Because, as discussed below, Sergeant Willmann and Deputy Waas had such a reasonable belief, the officers' entry under the circumstances was lawful.

C. The officers had reason to believe that Delap resided at 110 Milwaukee Street.

Like in *Blanco*, the officers here received information that Delap "was *living at* 110 Milwaukee Street." (R. 1:2, Pet-App. B:2; 41:8, Pet-App. D:4 (emphasis added).) Phrases like "living" and "staying" are "consistent with *residing*." *Blanco*, 237 Wis. 2d 395, ¶ 18 (citing *United States v. Risse*, 83 F.3d 212, 216–17 (8th Cir. 1996) ("stating that the phrases 'staying with' and 'living with' are sufficient to support police officers' belief that the suspect resided at the location at issue")).

The officers first learned that Delap lived at 110 Milwaukee Street from Deputy Gallenbeck, who obtained that information when he investigated Delap's flight from the traffic stop. (R. 41:8, 13, Pet-App. D:8, 13.) The teletype from Walworth County further corroborated that Delap lived at 110 Milwaukee Street. (R. 41:13, Pet-App. D:13.) Thus, unlike in *Blanco*, where there was only one tip that Blanco lived at the apartment, here, there were two.

Furthermore, the communication from Walworth County, listing Delap's residence as 110 Milwaukee Street, came in only one week before Sergeant Willmann and Deputy Waas went there to execute the warrants. (R. 41:8–9, 13, Pet-App. D:8–9, 13.) Therefore, unlike in *Kiper*, where the information was six weeks old, the information here about Delap's residence was fresh.

In addition, as Sergeant Willmann and Deputy Waas approached 110 Milwaukee Street, they saw a man fitting Delap's general description standing in the driveway to the residence. (R. 1:3, Pet-App. B:3.) That person, consistent with Delap's past behavior, ran from them as soon as he noticed they were officers. (R. 41:10, Pet-App. D:10.) At that point, they believed the person was Delap.⁷ (R. 1:3, Pet-App. B:3; 41:38–39, 41, Pet-App. D:38–39, 41.) Finding Delap at 110 Milwaukee Street, coupled with the information they received from Deputy Gallenbeck and Walworth County, gave the officers reason to believe that Delap resided there.

This conclusion is bolstered by Delap's admission at the suppression hearing that he was "living there temporarily." (R. 41:5-6, Pet-App. D:5-6.) See Blanco, 237 Wis. 2d 395, ¶ 19 n.3 ("Although not dispositive of our decision in this case, we point out that Blanco's counsel admitted during the sentencing hearing that the . . . apartment was Blanco's 'temporary residence."").

Accordingly, under *Payton*, Sergeant Willmann and Deputy Waas were authorized to enter 110 Milwaukee Street to execute the arrest warrants for Delap because they reasonably believed he lived there and was inside.

⁷ Delap agrees that the officers believed the fleeing individual was Delap. (Delap's Br. 14 ("In the present case, law enforcement pursued an individual whom they believed to be Mr. Delap into his residence.").)

D. Delap's argument is not persuasive.

Delap invokes only general principles from *Payton*. He argues that the arrest warrants here did not "provide legal authority for the officers to enter 110 Milwaukee St. for the purpose of arresting Mr. Delap," because "[t]he officers in this case did not have probable cause to believe that Mr. Delap was living at that address" since "Sgt. Willmann testified that he simply 'believed' that information had been obtained to that effect" and "some of the information was at least a month old." (Delap's Br. 46 n.5.)

The State disagrees. As explained above, the officers' had information from two different sources that Delap lived at 110 Milwaukee Street. The second source of information, the teletype, was fresh, as it was only one week old. Furthermore, when the officers went to 110 Milwaukee Street, they found Delap outside the residence. Those facts establish probable cause supporting the officers' entry. Accordingly, this Court may affirm based on *Payton*.

II. Alternatively, the exigent circumstance of hot pursuit justified the officers' entry into the residence to arrest Delap.

A. Hot pursuit as an exception to the warrant requirement.

"[N]ot all warrantless entries are unlawful." Ferguson, 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶ 19. Although Payton and Steagald presume that warrantless entries and arrests are unlawful, there are exceptions that overcome that presumption. Id. For example, the police may enter a home to arrest a suspect without a warrant when exigent circumstances are present. Id.; see also Kiper, 193 Wis. 2d at 89 ("We agree that if exigent circumstances developed during an attempt to identify and arrest [the suspect], [the officer] could have lawfully entered the [third party's] apartment without a search warrant.") "Exigent circumstances exist when 'it would be unreasonable and contrary to public policy to bar law enforcement officers at the door." *Ferguson*, 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶ 19 (quoting *Richter*, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 28). "The State bears the burden of proving that a warrantless home entry is justified by exigent circumstances." *Id.* ¶ 20.

The exigent circumstances doctrine "significantly limits" the situations in which a warrant is needed to enter a home to complete an arrest. *Steagald*, 451 U.S. at 221. Although "exigent circumstances may be present in a number of different situations," one "well-recognized" category that authorizes an officer's warrantless entry into a home is the "hot pursuit of a suspect." *Ferguson*, 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶ 20 (quoting *Richter*, 235 Wis. 2d 524, ¶ 29).

Both the Supreme Court and this Court "have long recognized" that "'hot pursuit' cases fall within the exigentcircumstances exception to the warrant requirement." *Steagald*, 451 U.S. at 218; *see also Ferguson*, 317 Wis. 2d 586, ¶¶ 20, 27 (adopting Justice Prosser's concurrence in *State v. Sanders*, 2008 WI 85, 311 Wis. 2d 257, 752 N.W.2d 713, which discussed the hot pursuit doctrine at length); *State v. Weber*, 2016 WI 96, ¶ 28, 372 Wis. 2d 202, 887 N.W.2d 554 ("Both this court and the Supreme Court of the United States have recognized that 'law enforcement officers may make a warrantless entry onto private property . . . to engage in "hot pursuit" of a fleeing suspect."" (citation omitted)).⁸ Under the doctrine of hot pursuit, an officer is

⁸ The lead opinion in *Weber*, authored by Justice Ziegler, was joined in full by Chief Justice Roggensack and Justice Gableman. Although Justice Kelly wrote separately on the issue of probable cause, he noted that the "lead opinion's explanation of the 'hot pursuit' doctrine [was] well-stated, and need[ed] no further

justified in following a suspect into a home to make an arrest when there "is probable cause to make an arrest for a jailable crime" and "immediate or continuous pursuit of the [suspect] from the scene of a crime." *Sanders*, 311 Wis. 2d 257, ¶ 117 (Prosser, J., concurring).

"The necessity-and thus the intuitive reasonableness—of a hot pursuit doctrine in our constitutional law is apparent": it "helps ensure that a criminal suspect will not be rewarded for fleeing the police and that the police will not be penalized for completing a lawful attempt to apprehend a suspect, who, by his own actions, has drawn the police into his home." Weber, 372 Wis. 2d 202, ¶ 30. "Law enforcement is not a child's game of prisoner['s] base, or a contest, with apprehension and conviction depending upon whether the officer or the defendant is fleetest of foot." Id. (quoting Sanders, 311 Wis. 2d 257, ¶ 133 (Prosser, J., concurring) (alteration in original)). Accordingly, "[a] police officer in continuous pursuit of a perpetrator of a crime committed in the officer's presence . . . must be allowed to follow the suspect into a private place, or the suspect's home if he chooses to flee there, and effect the arrest without a warrant." Id. (quoting Sanders, 311 Wis. 2d 257, ¶ 133 (Prosser, J., concurring) (alteration in original)).

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